
St. Tammany Parish Library 
Board of Control Meeting 

May 30, 2024 
St. Tammany Parish Council Chambers 

21490 Koop Dr., 
Mandeville, LA 70471 

6:30 P.M. 

Public Comment:  A three (3) minute time limit is established for each member of the public wishing to 
speak (for or against) an item on the agenda. In the case of a Statement of Concern decision, the person 
who filed the Statement of Concern is given 5 minutes to speak. Please note, all comments must pertain to 
the agenda item announced. There is no general public comment at the end of the meeting. Any person 
wishing to comment on a topic not listed on the agenda may do so by e-mailing lboc@stpl.us by 4:00 PM 
on Thursday, May 30, 2024. 

AGENDA 

Call to order by President and Roll Call by Director 

1. Approval of the minutes of the meeting of the Library Board of Control that was held on April
22, 2024

• Discussion
• Public Comment
• Vote

2. NEW BUSINESS

A. Presentation of the Audit – John Murray, LaPorte
• Discussion
• Public Comment
• Vote

B. Financial Reports – April 2024
• Discussion
• Public Comment
• Vote

C. Director’s Report

D. Summer Reading Presentation

E. Report on the status of the graphic novel review
• Discussion
• Public Comment
• Vote

F. Summer Budget Amendment
• Discussion
• Public Comment
• Vote

3. Adjournment



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 1 
 

St. Tammany Parish Library 
Board of Control Meeting 

April 22, 2024 
St. Tammany Parish Council Chambers 

21490 Koop Dr., 
Mandeville, LA 70471 

6:30 P.M. 
 

MINUTES 
 
The meeting was called to order by Rebecca (Becky) Taylor, President.  Kelly LaRocca, Director, called 
the roll and declared that a quorum was present. 
 
Present: Bill McHugh, Anthony Parr, Ann Shaw, Becky Taylor 
Absent:  Carmen Butler 
 
James Bolner with the Civil Division of the District Attorney’s Office was also present as legal counsel for 
the library. 
 
B. Taylor explained the rules for public comment. A three-minute time limit is established for each 
member of the public wishing to speak (for or against) an item on the Agenda. In the case of a 
Statement of Concern (SOC) decision, the person who filed the SOC is given 5 minutes to speak. 
 

1. Approval of the minutes of the meeting of the Library Board of Control (LBOC) that was held 
on March 25, 2024 

 
Discussion: B. McHugh suggested adding a phrase to the sentence discussing the telephone system in 
the last paragraph of page seven. He asked for the sentence to read as follows: “The Telephones and 
Telephone System line is increased to match the cost of our new telephone system installation, which 
will be significantly less expensive and more functional to operate than our current system.”  
 
Public Comment: There was no public comment.  
 
Vote: B. McHugh moved to approve the minutes with the stated addition. It was seconded by A. Parr. All 
were in favor, none were opposed, and one was absent. Motion carried.   
 

2. NEW BUSINESS  
 

A. Financial Reports – March 2024 
 
Discussion: K. LaRocca reported that $3,142,396.07 in Ad Valorem Revenue was received in March. A 
total of $88,100.47 in State Revenue Sharing was received in February. Two more equal payments of 
State Revenue Sharing are expected throughout the year. The budget percentage for this point in the 
year should be 25%. Revenues are at 27.58% and expenditures are at 25.32%.  



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 2 
 

K. LaRocca gave explanations for lines that are over or under budget. Most of the lines that are over 
budget are expended early in the year and lines that are under budget are expended later in the year. 
Some of the lines discussed were Maintenance Supplies, Office Machine and Equipment Repair, PC 
Network Maintenance and Repair, Plumbing, Heating, and AC, Consultants, Web Design Consultant, 
Insurance and Claims, Vehicles, Integrated Library Automation System, Microfilm, Lease/Purchase 
Books, and Internet Database Subscription.  
 
B. McHugh commented that it has been stated by people that the library has a $14 million-dollar 
budget. He asked K. LaRocca if the library has ever had a $14 million-dollar budget. K. LaRocca stated 
that this year’s budget of $12,713,572.04 is the highest it has been. B. McHugh asked if the budget will 
be $14 million next year and K. LaRocca stated that it will not. B. McHugh stated for the record that the 
library has never had a $14 million-dollar budget and we do not foresee having a $14 million-dollar 
budget any time in the near future.  
 
B. Taylor stated that B. McHugh brought up a good point and added that the library does not receive all 
of its budget and contributes to other governmental departments. K. LaRocca confirmed that in any 
given year we do not receive all of our millage, as funds are deducted from our disbursement for 
mandatory expenditures to other governmental expenses and agencies, such as the Assessor’s Office. K. 
LaRocca stated that we do our very best to estimate how much we are actually going to receive so that 
we can budget appropriately.  
 
B. Taylor asked K. LaRocca to briefly explain the amount of funds we must have at the start of the year 
to cover mandatory expenses. K. LaRocca explained that we have funds set aside in savings to cover 
expenses for the first part of the year until we receive the first Ad Valorem payment. There are also 
funds set aside in savings for deductibles, should we have a major storm or a situation where we have to 
pay out-of-pocket for repairs before reaching our deductible. K. LaRocca referenced the recent storm 
that produced damage at the South Slidell Branch. The deductible is 2% of the cost of the building or 
$250,000 – whichever is greater. K. LaRocca stated that the amount dedicated to operational reserves in 
savings is $2,500,000 and another $1,475,000 is dedicated for disaster and emergency funds. These 
funds are not budgeted to be spent, but are held in reserve for those specific purposes.  
 
Public Comment: There was no public comment.  
 
Vote: A. Parr moved to approve the March 2024 financial reports. It was seconded by A. Shaw. All were 
in favor, none were opposed, and one was absent. Motion carried.  
 

B.  Director’s Report 
 
K. LaRocca reported on the damage to the South Slidell Branch due to a severe storm that produced a 
tornado on April 10, 2024. The damage primarily affected the building's roof, air conditioning units, 
windows, ceiling, and stucco façade. Immediate action was taken to assess and address the damages to 
ensure the safety and functionality of the library. The South Slidell Branch was closed after the storm 
and reopened on April 15th at noon. We are awaiting further information from the Parish and are 
obtaining pricing for repairs.  
 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 3 
 

Staff met with an architectural consultant to work on details for a carpet and furniture refresh at the 
Causeway Branch, office furniture for the new Outreach building, acoustic work and rearranging of the 
computer lab and Reference collection at the Covington Branch.  
 
K. LaRocca reported on marketing, outreach, and professional development efforts. Staff produced a 
Storywalk® for “A Storybook Kind of Day: Pirates and Princesses” event at Heritage Park. Staff promoted 
the Summer Reading Challenge and other library services at the Kiwanis Youth Wellness Fair in 
Covington. Staff promoted Library Week, Food For Fines, and Story Swap on The Lake and The Highway 
radio stations. Staff offered outreach to the Junior League Girls Health Day in Covington, St. Tammany 
Commission on Families meeting at the Coroner’s Office, Earth Day event in Lacombe, and the 
Northshore Food Bank’s Community Celebration and Resource Fair in Covington. Staff attended the 
following webinars and workshops offered by the State Library of Louisiana: Sensory Accommodations, 
A.I. in Your Library, Leading from Within, and Confidence in the Workplace. Staff attended the Fay B. 
Kaigler Children’s Book Festival at The University of Southern Mississippi in Hattiesburg.  
 
Over 6,000 eclipse glasses were distributed prior to the total solar eclipse that occurred on April 8th. 
Food for Fines was held in celebration of National Library Week. Each nonperishable food item donated 
equaled $1 in waived fines. This year, the library also accepted canned pet food for the Animal Services 
Public Pet Food Pantry. Due to the strong storm system and tornado that hit the Slidell area on April 
10th, the library waived system-wide fees until April 27th. All coordinators and other staff have been 
preparing for Summer Reading programming this past month. Two Summer Reading kick-off parties are 
planned. The first party will be at the Slidell Branch on May 23rd, and the second party will be at the 
Madisonville Branch on May 24th.  
 
T. DiMaggio reviewed contract renewals and E-Rate agreements. K. LaRocca reported that the 2023 
year-end audit was conducted and no issues were found. The Phase I Environmental Study for the 
Lacombe Library Replacement Land came back clean and a basic survey was also conducted. If the Parish 
Council makes final approval of the purchase at its May meeting, we will close on the Lacombe land at 
the end of May. 
 
K. LaRocca reported that no new public records requests (PRR) have been received since the last 
meeting. The only remaining open PRR is a large request that dates from August of 2023 with over 
100,000 results that was previously collected and turned over to the District Attorney's office for review 
and redaction. This request was suspended by the requestor. There are 42 active statements of concern 
on 38 titles. Two more titles will be decided this evening. The remaining statements of concern are still 
pending review. Committees and work groups continue working together to implement strategic 
planning goals. K. LaRocca gave an update on the transition of materials. The title Speak by Laurie Halse 
Anderson was reviewed and determined not to contain sexual conduct and will remain in the YA/Teen 
Fiction section.  
 
K. LaRocca noted that the LBOC meeting scheduled for May 20, 2024 is being rescheduled for May 30, 
2024. K. LaRocca reviewed the service statistics for March 2024 and the year-to-date (YTD) statistics. In 
March 2024, the total circulation was 78,995, total computer usage was 6,883, door count was 48,131, 
wireless internet inside was 7,096, and wireless internet outside was 6,667. Total number of patrons 
registered for library cards was 523. K. LaRocca referenced the updated YTD statistics for January to 
February 2024, as the Slidell Branch statistics were inadvertently not included at the March LBOC 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 4 
 

meeting. The YTD January to March statistics show that total circulation was 236,137, computer usage 
was 21,048, door count was 137,094, wireless internet inside was 21,025, and wireless internet outside 
was 19,876. The YTD total patrons registered was 1,906.  
 
B. McHugh asked when the salary study report from Gallagher will be presented. K. LaRocca stated it will 
likely be at the July LBOC meeting. A. Parr asked if there is a tentative date for the study room pod to be 
purchased. K. LaRocca stated that the furniture project has to go through the bid process and that 
typically takes around five months.  
 
A. Parr asked T. DiMaggio for an update on the event she attended relating to a sensory accommodation 
room. T. DiMaggio explained that the workshop she attended was focused on programming. T. 
DiMaggio stated that it was geared towards children, but she learned things that can be applicable to 
teens and adults. She noted that for several years libraries offered programs specifically for families with 
children on the sensory or autism spectrum, but she has learned that families want regular 
programming with accommodations. She stated she learned about what kind of accommodations can be 
made going forward.  
 
A. Parr asked if there is an additional fee for the Uniti Fiber main feed upgrade under E-Rate 
Agreements. T. DiMaggio said she can check the detailed invoice and report back to him. A. Parr asked if 
there will be an Outreach line item in the budget. K. LaRocca said that there is currently a line for an 
Outreach Opening Day Collection and a line for the purchase of the Outreach Vehicle. K. LaRocca said 
that they may create a separate supply line for Outreach so that postage and other supplies can be 
tracked separately. There will be a budget amendment in May and that may be when those lines are 
added to the budget. K. LaRocca explained that after a year or two of tracking the expenses, the lines 
could be combined with the regular supply lines.  
 
A. Shaw asked about the amount of grant funding that the reference staff is looking for under Goal 5 of 
the strategic plan. K. LaRocca stated that the reference staff are looking for grants that will help 
accomplish our goal of creating a calming room and any amount of funding will be helpful. K. LaRocca 
explained that the Board could approve the funding in our budget if we are unable to find another way. 
She noted that the project is not expected to be costly and includes purchasing items such as furniture 
and calming lights.   
 
A. Shaw asked about the Maker Space. K. LaRocca stated that a Maker Space is much more expensive. 
She noted the varying costs of 3D printers and explained that it will depend on what patrons want to see 
in the Maker Space. K. LaRocca explained that it could include high tech items like a 3D printer, but can 
also include a serger and sewing machine or multiple sewing machines for a class. She stated that there 
will be a survey conducted to learn what patrons would like and then we can gather pricing and move 
forward. A. Shaw suggested putting packets together that represent the plan for each phase to use 
when approaching companies about their products and pricing. T. DiMaggio agreed and explained that 
is why staff has been visiting different spaces at other facilities to determine what is possible to 
accomplish in the physical space that we have. T. DiMaggio noted that the button maker, serger, and 
sewing machines were the most used resources at one of the libraries she visited with a comparable 
sized space.  
 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 5 
 

B. Taylor welcomed James Bolner with the Civil Division of the District Attorney’s (DA) Office as legal 
counsel for the library. B. Taylor reported that she was made aware of an Attorney General’s opinion 
dated July 13, 2018. She stated that the opinion is in reference to appointing Library Board members in 
West Feliciana Parish, pursuant to a Home Rule Charter. B. Taylor stated that it appeared to present a 
different interpretation or view of that type of appointment. B. Taylor stated that she sent the 
information to the St. Tammany Parish Council members in case they were not aware of this alternate 
type of opinion. B. Taylor also noted that she shared the information with fellow board members. 
 
B. McHugh asked J. Bolner if he believes that the current LBOC members are serving illegally, as claimed 
by Councilman Cougle in his January 27th position paper and at the March Parish Council meeting. J. 
Bolner stated that the DA’s Office has researched the issue, reviewed Attorney General opinions, and 
has looked very carefully at the allegation. J. Bolner stated that they do not believe the Board members 
are serving illegally. B. McHugh asked J. Bolner if the Parish Council has been informed of that position. 
J. Bolner stated that he cannot speak to that question at this time, but will follow up with an answer.     
 
B. McHugh asked J. Bolner if he thinks that the Parish Council’s resolution to appoint seats to a Board 
that is already legally occupied is legitimate. J. Bolner stated that he does not have the resolution in 
front of him, but the DA’s Office has looked at this issue in detail and has done a forensic analysis to try 
to understand how the Board got to this present point in time.  
 
J. Bolner explained that this goes back to the 1974 Louisiana State Constitution, which gave parishes and 
municipalities the power to adopt Home Rule Charters. In 2000, when St. Tammany Parish adopted a 
Home Rule Charter, the provisions that were enacted were less than ideal. The provision pertaining to 
commissions and appointing terms was drafted as a temporary “band aid.” It was stated that 
Commissioners shall serve until they are asked not to serve anymore instead of following the mandate 
in LA R.S. 25:214(B), which calls for staggered terms of five years.  
 
J. Bolner explained that in 1978, legislation was enacted that called for a Board with staggered terms, in 
connection to Library Boards of Control. When a political subdivision was empowered to create a library, 
in order to do so, they had to create a Board with members that had one, two, three, four, and five-year 
terms at the onset of the Board. He stated that the St. Tammany Parish Police Jury did that in 1984 and 
followed that process until the Home Rule Charter was enacted. It stated that current members of the 
LBOC would continue to serve temporarily until reappointed or removed by resolution of the Council. 
The ordinance was written so that the LBOC terms would run concurrent with the terms of the Parish 
Council, which are four-year terms instead of the five-year terms envisioned by LA R.S. 25:214(B). It has 
been operated this way since that time.  
 
J. Bolner referenced the Attorney General’s opinion that B. Taylor previously cited. He stated that it is an 
opinion that addresses whether a Home Rule Charter provision, which calls for a two-year Library Board 
of Control term, is enforceable in light of LA R.S. 25:214(B). The Attorney General concluded that the 
Home Rule Charter takes precedence over the LA R.S. 25:214(B) in that instance.  
 
J. Bolner clarified that the opinion was in reference to a Home Rule Charter provision, but the point at 
issue relates to resolutions appointing board members. He stated that a resolution is not an ordinance, 
it is not a Home Rule Charter provision, and it is not law. He stated that a resolution does not supersede 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 6 
 

LA R.S. 25:214(B). A resolution cannot supersede a constitutional provision or a Home Rule Charter 
provision.  
 
J. Bolner does not think our position is inconsistent with the Attorney General’s opinion. He explained 
that it supports the position that we have taken, which is that the Parish Council does have the authority 
to fix the problem and to pass an ordinance to reappoint the board members currently serving, 
especially those who have only served a portion of their term. The Parish Council also has the authority 
to appoint new members and to fill vacancies. He noted that it is up to the Parish Council to decide how 
to go about doing so.  
 
B. McHugh asked if their authority includes the ability to replace board members. J. Bolner stated that it 
is a hard question to answer, but his office has concluded that is correct and the Parish Council does 
have that authority. J. Bolner explained that one would have to go back and trace the genealogy of each 
term that is being served until we reach the point in which someone was serving a full five-year term. J. 
Bolner explained that he is unaware of any records being available to accomplish that.  
 
B. McHugh asked J. Bolner if he has gone over this information with the Parish Council. J. Bolner stated 
that he has not. B. McHugh asked if anyone in the DA’s Office has gone over this with the Council. J. 
Bolner stated that he is unaware if anyone else has gone over this with the Council. B. McHugh asked if 
any councilmember has asked the opinion of the DA’s Office on the matter in a public meeting. J. Bolner 
stated that he is unaware of that and explained that he is here in his capacity as a member of the Civil 
Division representing the Library Board of Control. He clarified that he does work for the Parish in the 
context of civil litigation, but he does not represent, advise, or communicate with the Parish Council on 
a regular basis.   
  
B. McHugh asked J. Bolner if he knows whether or not there is a legal definition of the term “community 
values.” J. Bolner asked if the question is within the context of free speech regulations. B. McHugh 
explained that there has been discussion about whether or not the current library operation and the 
board members represent community values. He added that it has been implicitly discussed whether or 
not the library’s collection reflects community values. B. McHugh stated that when he was interviewed 
for reappointment, one of the first questions asked was, “What is your definition of community values?” 
He stated that this term has been tossed around for nearly two years in discussions about the library, 
but he has yet to see a definition of community values in the law or anywhere else. He stated that it 
seems as though some people are saying that community values are “my” values, not “yours.” He stated 
that it is an ill-defined term.  
 
J. Bolner stated that in his experience the term “community values” is associated with free speech cases. 
He stated that the term has perhaps been misused in the context of what B. McHugh is referring to. J. 
Bolner stated that he is not prepared to give a definition at this moment, but he can follow up and 
provide a definition. B. McHugh apologized for putting J. Bolner on the spot and asked if it is a conflict of 
interest for the DA’s Office to advise both the LBOC and the Parish Council while there are some 
councilmembers who want to replace the LBOC. J. Bolner stated that he cannot answer that question 
and will have to consult with outside counsel to determine if there is a conflict of interest. J. Bolner 
noted that he is unaware of any conflict. J. Bolner stated that if B. McHugh could articulate what he 
perceives to be the conflict, he would be happy to take it to the DA’s ethics counsel and get an answer.  
 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 7 
 

B. McHugh explained that the DA’s Office advises the Parish Council and also advises the LBOC. He asked 
if it puts the DA’s Office in a conflict when the goals of the Parish Council and the LBOC seem to be in 
conflict with each other. He noted that there is a lot of contention right now about the LBOC and most 
of it is centered at the Parish Council level. He wonders how the DA’s Office can represent both sides in 
this situation. J. Bolner offered to seek an answer to that and will follow up.  
 

C. Report and Resolution on Evaluation of YA materials – Classifying and Location 
 
Discussion:  
K. LaRocca spoke about the resolution that was adopted at the last board meeting on March 25, 2024. 
The resolution directed Library Administration and staff to investigate and ascertain what would be 
required to review the Young Adult (YA) collection for sexual conduct as defined by LA R.S. 25:225. 
Library Administration and staff worked to come up with a solution to this endeavor and developed 
three options for the Board to consider. K. LaRocca reviewed an outline and timeline of the three 
options. The options are as follows: 
 
Option 1: Keep YA Fiction as it is. Minors with a Full Restriction card cannot check out YA Fiction. Minors 
who have permission from a parent or guardian and have a Semi Restricted, Juvenile, or Unrestricted 
card may check out YA Fiction. 
 
Option 2: YA Fiction titles with sexual content defined by LA R.S. 25:225 are moved to Adult Fiction with 
no labeling or other means to identify the title as being written for a teen audience. Minors with a Full 
Restriction or Semi Restriction card cannot check out Adult Fiction. Minors who have permission from a 
parent or guardian and have a Juvenile or Unrestricted card may check out Adult Fiction. While the 
review is taking place, YA Fiction remains accessible to a Semi Restriction card.  
 
Option 3: Split the YA collection and create a “New Adult” Fiction collection as part of the Adult 
collection for YA items with sexual content defined by LA R.S. 25:225 and change the name of YA Fiction 
to Teen Fiction that will house items without sexual content defined by LA R.S. 25:225. Minors with Full 
Restriction or Semi Restriction cards will not be able to check out New Adult Fiction. Minors who have 
permission from a parent or guardian and have a Juvenile or Unrestricted card may check out New Adult 
Fiction. While the review is taking place, YA Fiction remains accessible to a Semi Restriction card.  
 
K. LaRocca reviewed the employee time that would be required to effectuate Options 2 or 3. It would 
take staff approximately 1,071 hours to review all 4,762 titles in YA Fiction. The total number of items in 
YA Fiction is 8,960, as most titles have multiple copies in our system. It will take staff approximately 373 
hours to process all 8,960 items in YA Fiction.  
 
K. LaRocca noted that there are other YA collection components, such as books on CD, YA Non-Fiction, 
and YA Graphic Novels. Any of the YA books on CD that would move to Adult or New Adult would need 
to be processed. The Teen Department is working on creating a new Teen Non-Fiction collection. Adult 
Non-Fiction titles that are written for teens would move to the new Teen Non-Fiction collection. 
Examples of these titles are teen cookbooks and ACT study guides. The items that will be moved will not 
contain sexual content as defined by LA R.S. 25:225. The Teen Department is also working to review 
titles in the YA Graphic Novel collection for sexual content defined by LA R.S. 25:225. Any titles found 
will be moved to the new Adult Graphic Novel collection or to Adult Non-Fiction. Any titles found to 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 8 
 

contain sexual conduct defined by the LBOC Resolution of February 2023 will be moved to behind the 
circulation desk. Graphic novels in the Adult Non-Fiction Collection that are written for teens will be 
moved to the Teen Graphic Novel collection. These items will not contain sexual conduct defined by LA 
R.S. 25:225.  
 
K. LaRocca discussed the potential timeline for reviewing the YA Fiction Collection. The bulk of the work 
could begin in August 2024 after the Summer Reading Challenge, which ends in July. The essential staff 
that will need to review the titles in an efficient and thorough manner are necessary to the production 
of the Summer Reading Challenge. If the teen librarians work on this project 10 hours a week while 
continuing their normal duties, it will take approximately nine months to complete the review. Items 
with sexual conduct defined by LA R.S. 25:225 that are brought to our attention will be prioritized. The 
prioritized list review could start immediately with the remainder of the review taking place after 
summer reading. 
 
K. LaRocca reviewed the cost associated with Options 2 and 3. For Option 2, staff time for reviewing the 
items is calculated to be $28,745.64. This is based on 1,071 hours at $26.84 (average of Teen 
Department salaries per hour). Processing, cataloging, and supply costs will vary based on how many 
items are moved. For Option 3, staff time for reviewing, processing and cataloging the items, plus the 
cost of supplies is calculated to be $36,642.37.  
 
K. LaRocca stated that staff recommends Option 3, as this option provides more clarity to parents about 
what is contained in each library collection and leaves the decision about access firmly in their hands. 
Collections designated for minors would not have sexual conduct and collections designated for adults 
could have sexual conduct. K. LaRocca noted that Option 3 enables all of the books classified as New 
Adult to be kept together, much like our Biography collection and the Mystery and Western collections 
at some of our branches. K. LaRocca added that the concept of a New Adult category has been part of 
the publishing industry since 2009.  
 
A. Parr noted that he has seen New Adult sections in bookstores. He agreed that with Option 3, the 
books would stay together and would not get lost in the Adult section. A. Parr referenced the LBOC 
Resolution of February 2023, which places graphic novels containing sexual content (as defined by the 
resolution) behind the circulation desk. He asked why those titles could not be put in the New Adult 
section.  
 
K. LaRocca explained that there are two competing directives in this situation. The resolution that the 
LBOC adopted in February 2023 contains a higher level of sexually descriptive terms and criteria that 
define sexual conduct. The resolution directs the library to place graphic novels containing such conduct 
behind the circulation desk. Conversely, LA R.S. 25:225 contains a different definition of sexual conduct 
and includes a lower level of sexually descriptive terms and criteria. Titles that meet the criteria of LA 
R.S. 25:225 would be moved to the Adult or New Adult collections. K. LaRocca estimated that there are 
approximately 62 graphic novels currently behind the circulation desk. 
 
B. McHugh asked if people can file SOCs to challenge the placement of these books. K. LaRocca 
confirmed that is correct. She explained that the plan is to keep a list of items that are moved based 
solely on the content defined by LA R.S. 25:225. The list would be available on the website and would 
include the page numbers that contained sexual conduct.  



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 9 
 

B. McHugh clarified that none of this is required by state law and this is our way of improving the 
categorization of the material based on state law. K. LaRocca stated that in order to meet state law 
there needs to be one area or collection of the library that does not have sexual conduct and a card 
system to restrict content. K. LaRocca stated that we do not have sexual conduct in the Juvenile 
collection and we provide a Full Restriction card option that only allows checking out materials from that 
collection. K. LaRocca noted that this option would make it clearer to parents what is and what is not in 
each collection. She stated that the majority of parents have chosen unrestricted access to materials for 
their child. Approximately 14% of juvenile cards have restricted access.  
 
B. McHugh stated that we are trying to be proactive and take action in advance. A. Parr asked T. 
DiMaggio about the staff’s feedback on Option 3. T. DiMaggio stated that staff were glad about the fact 
that the material would be designated as being meant for a younger audience. T. DiMaggio explained 
that books such as Twilight, Harry Potter, and The Hunger Games really changed the publishing world. 
This was especially true for Twilight, as the series contains some sexual content and has garnered both 
teen and adult readers. She noted that part of what was traditionally considered YA or Teen Fiction has 
become more mature.  
 
Public comment: 
Lisa Rustemeyer – Mandeville, LA. Spoke about no children being harmed by reading a book. Spoke 
about 65% of parents choosing unrestricted library cards for their kids. Asked if the concerns have come 
from the “very vocal group” or from parents with actual concerns. Stated she is in favor of Option 1, 
because she feels it harms kids to put certain books out of their reach. Stated she is not opposed to a 
New Adult section, but considers it overkill to review thousands of books when the library is already in 
compliance with the law. Asked why the library is using a different metric for reviewing graphic novels.   
 
Ruth Terry-Sipos – Abita Springs, LA. Asked about which section the statement “not to purchase sexual 
content” refers to. K. LaRocca explained that the current criteria for selection states that we will not 
purchase items with sexual conduct as defined by LA R.S. 25:225 for the Juvenile or the YA collections. R. 
Terry-Sipos asked what would be the point in creating a New Adult section if those items would also not 
contain sexual conduct. K. LaRocca clarified that the New Adult section would be part of the Adult 
collection, but shelved separately like the Biography, Mystery, and Western sections.   
 
T. DiMaggio clarified that we are not discussing what the library will purchase or not purchase, but 
rather where we are locating books and who has access to them based on the card system. T. DiMaggio 
clarified that we are not saying that we will not purchase the books at issue. R. Terry-Sipos asked the 
Board to revisit the resolution of February 2023 regarding graphic novels. She stated that there is now a 
place for them in New Adult and they should not be hidden behind the counter. 
 
Rebecca Bohm – Mandeville, LA. Supports Option 1. Stated that 65% of the population who use the 
library are happy. Stated that the library is trying to appease a small percentage of the population and 
note that none of them were in attendance of the meeting. Asked how many kids have gone to the 
library, found books with sexually explicit material, and then sat down to read them in the library. She 
noted that they could not be checked out with a restricted card. 
 
There were three comment cards from members of the public who did not wish to speak. They were not 
in favor of moving the YA books to the Adult or New Adult sections.  



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 10 
 

A. Parr asked for confirmation that if Option 1 is chosen, some books in question will be shuffled into the 
Adult section anyway. K. LaRocca confirmed that is correct. She explained that Option 1 leaves the books 
where they are currently located, but as items with sexual conduct as defined by LA R.S. 25:225 are 
discovered, they will be moved to the Adult section. There would be no indication that they are written 
for an audience other than adults.  
 
B. McHugh stated that he sympathizes with the comments in favor of Option 1, but reiterated that as 
books are identified as containing sexual conduct they would be automatically moved to the Adult 
section with no categorization that would lead patrons to the materials. He stated that Option 3 is the 
better option because it sets a clear standard that can be easily explained and does not require any 
change to the card system. He acknowledged that it will take money, time, and work, but once complete 
there will be a clearly delineated collection.  
 
A. Shaw asked about waiting to review the items until after Summer Reading. K. LaRocca clarified that 
the titles that we have reviewed so far that contain sexual conduct as defined by LA R.S. 25:225 and 
have been moved to the Adult collection could become the first titles in the New Adult collection. K. 
LaRocca stated that any additional titles that are brought to our attention and are confirmed to contain 
sexual conduct as defined by LA R.S. 25:225 can be moved to the New Adult collection promptly. She 
stated that a systematic review cannot happen until the summer is over. She explained that our teen 
librarians can do this much more efficiently, as they are familiar with teen literature and know what to 
look for in reviewing the materials.  
 
A. Shaw asked if there is money in the budget to offer additional hours to staff to review the books 
sooner. K. LaRocca stated that she can look into that and added that full time staff would have to work 
overtime, which would affect the budget. K. LaRocca noted that the salary study will be complete soon 
and is going to affect the budget as well. K. LaRocca reiterated that items that were moved to the Adult 
collection can be moved into New Adult promptly. Additional items brought to our attention that 
contain sexual conduct will also be moved to New Adult promptly. K. LaRocca stated that if someone has 
concerns about books, they can provide us with a list of books that includes the page numbers where 
the sexual conduct defined by LA R.S. 25:225 is located. Those titles could be reviewed and moved to 
New Adult promptly. This would not require a Statement of Concern, just the titles and page numbers 
identifying the sexual conduct. We would make a spreadsheet available on the website that shows all 
4,700 items in the YA collection. It would be noted whether or not sexual conduct was found and what 
page(s) it was found on for each title.  
 
A member of the public asked how a series would be handled. K. LaRocca stated that items in a series 
would be kept together in the same collection. 
 
Vote: B. McHugh moved to adopt the Option 3 resolution regarding evaluation of YA materials. It was 
seconded by A. Parr. A. Parr asked to add discussion of the February 2023 graphic novel resolution to 
the next board meeting. B. Taylor said she would make a note of his request.  

 
Roll call vote: Butler: Absent    McHugh: Yes    Parr: Yes    Shaw: Yes    Taylor: Yes 

 
Motion carried. 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 11 
 

D. Statement of Concern – Burned 
 
Discussion:  
K. LaRocca presented the Statement of Concern for the book Burned by Ellen Hopkins. The statement 
was submitted by Frances Smith, representing the St. Tammany Library Accountability Project. K. 
LaRocca read the statement aloud.  
 
The recommended action by F. Smith is to: “It needs to be place [sic] in a restricted area where children 
and young teens cannot read it or check it out without parental consent. What’s it a resource for?” 
Reason given: “The book is clearly not for young readers or teens. It promotes a life style [sic] that is not 
healthy. In your library a 12 year old can read this book.”  
 
K. LaRocca reviewed the book résumé which includes the publisher’s summary, number of print copies 
STPL owns (3), total circulation on all print copies (286), number of audiobooks on CD (2), total 
circulation on all audiobooks on CD (52), number of E-audiobook digital resources available (2), total 
circulation on digital E-audiobooks (25), comparable library system statistics, reviews by Booklist, School 
Library Journal, Hornbook Guide to Children, Kirkus Reviews, and Publishers Weekly. Also noted are 
awards and lists featuring this title. The publisher’s recommended age group is 14 to 17. A total of 700 
public libraries across the nation own copies of the book. The title was previously shelved in the YA 
Fiction section at STPL, but has been moved to Adult Fiction with Fic Hopk as the call number.  
 
K. LaRocca reviewed the committee’s evaluation of the title which includes demographics of the 
committee members, the committee’s report, and the committee’s recommendation. The complainant 
does not explicitly cite Louisiana Revised Statute 14:91.11. However, because the statute was implied on 
the complainant’s form, the book was evaluated based on the criteria set forth in the statute. K. LaRocca 
stated that legal counsel has advised the Board that all four criteria in LA R.S. 14:91.11 must be true to 
be a violation of the statute. The committee did not find a violation of the statute.  
 
Summary of Committee Report: There are only two scenes with sexual content. The scenes are brief and 
accurately depict first love and the teen experience. The book is primarily about the main character’s 
questioning of her faith, her religious beliefs, and about her relationship with her abusive father. The 
book shows a positive female/male relationship that promotes consent and respect, contrasting it with 
the dysfunctional relationship of the main character’s parents. The book was written for an older teen 
audience.  
 
The committee believes that the book is not harmful to minors as described in LA R.S. 14:91.11. 
However, because the book contains conduct defined in LA R.S. 25:225 (p. 122- touching of female body 
parts listed in the statute) and alludes to the ultimate act (p. 372-373), the book was moved from YA 
Fiction to Adult Fiction where it is not accessible to minors holding a Restricted or Semi-restricted card. 
Options for the Board: The book is currently shelved in Adult Fiction. The Board can remove it from the 
library, restrict the book behind the circulation desk, leave it shelved in Adult Fiction, or move it to the 
newly approved New Adult collection.     
 
Committee Recommendation: The book should remain in Adult Fiction. The New Adult collection was 
not an option at the time of the review.  
 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 12 
 

A. Parr noted that the book is currently in Adult Fiction with no identifying information that indicates 
that it is meant for teens and young adults. T. DiMaggio stated that the subject heading in the cataloging 
record of the item indicates that it is meant for a YA audience, but there is no indication of that for 
books on the shelves.  
 
B. McHugh stated that the complainant does not seem to understand the difference between promoting 
and portraying something. The complainant claims that the book promotes bad behavior and an 
unhealthy lifestyle. B. McHugh explained that the book portrays a lifestyle which may include bad 
behavior and may not be healthy, but these lifestyles do exist. The fact that a book portrays a lifestyle 
does not mean that it is promoting that lifestyle.   
 
A. Parr stated that when he worked in behavioral health, many kids would request books by Ellen 
Hopkins. He stated that it helped them cope with a lot of things they were experiencing.  
 
Public Comment: 
Frances Smith, the patron who submitted the Statement of Concern for Burned, was offered five 
minutes for public comment. F. Smith was not in attendance and did not appear for public comment.  
 
Lisa Rustemeyer – Mandeville, LA. Spoke about the book being located in the YA section of other 
libraries. Stated that the author is a very good writer. Stated that she does not believe teens are 
convinced to try behaviors because they read about them in books. Stated that she has not finished the 
book yet, but has noted the mentioning of one body part so far that she thought may fall under LA R.S. 
25:225. She noted that is only one page out of the entire book. Stated that the book should be in the YA 
section.  
 
There were three comment cards from members of the public who did not wish to speak. They were in 
favor of moving the book to the YA section. 
 
B. McHugh agreed with L. Rustemeyer that it is unreasonable to judge a book by one page and noted 
that Burned has over 500 pages. He stated that it is unfortunate, but the state law is explicit and 
requires the action that has been taken.  
 
Vote: A. Parr moved to reclassify Burned as New Adult and to shelve the title in the New Adult section. It 
was seconded by A. Shaw. A. Parr asked if all the Ellen Hopkins books will be shelved together in the 
New Adult section. T. DiMaggio stated that some of her books are written for an adult audience and 
those will stay in Adult Fiction.  

 
Roll call vote: Butler: Absent    McHugh: Yes    Parr: Yes    Shaw: Yes    Taylor: Yes 

 
Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 13 
 

E. Statement of Concern - A Court of Frost and Starlight 
 
Discussion:  
K. LaRocca presented the Statement of Concern for the book A Court of Frost and Starlight by Sarah 
Maas. The statement was submitted by Frances Smith, representing the St. Tammany Library 
Accountability Project. K. LaRocca read the statement aloud.  
 
The recommended action by F. Smith is: “Restrict from minors from [sic] reading this book/get it off the 
shelves for children to read.” Reason given: “It is obscene. Children should not be allowed to read it. 
Goes against the Law.” 
 
K. LaRocca reviewed the book résumé which includes the publisher’s summary, number of print copies 
STPL owns (2), total circulation on all print copies (70), number of E-book digital resources available (1), 
total circulation on E-book (23), number of E-audiobook digital resources available (2), total circulation 
on E-audiobooks (179), comparable library system statistics, reviews by Kirkus Reviews and Hornbook 
Guide to Children. The publisher’s recommended age group for this title is 17 and up. A total of 2,069 
public libraries across the nation own copies of the book. The title is shelved in the Adult Fiction 
collection at STPL with Fic Maas as the call number.  
 
K. LaRocca reviewed the committee’s evaluation of the title which includes demographics of the 
committee members, the committee’s report, and the committee’s recommendation. Since the 
complainant cites the Louisiana Criminal Law Revised Statute 14:91.11, the book was evaluated based 
on the criteria set forth in the statute. K. LaRocca stated that legal counsel has advised the Board that all 
four criteria in LA R.S. 14:91.11 must be true to be a violation of the statute. The committee did not find 
a violation of the statute.  
 
Summary of Committee Report: The committee believes that the book is not harmful to minors as 
described in LA R.S. 14:91.11. However, the book does contain sexual conduct as described by LA R.S. 
25:225, including a description of the ultimate act on page 201. The committee believes the placement 
of the title in Adult Fiction where it is only accessible to an adult or to a minor whose parent has given 
them access to the Adult collection is appropriate. 
 
Options for the Board: Remove it from the Library, restrict the book behind the circulation desk, or leave 
it in Adult Fiction. 
 
Committee Recommendation: The committee recommends that the book remain in Adult Fiction. 
 
A. Parr asked if the title could be moved to New Adult. K. LaRocca stated that it could, as the publisher’s 
recommended age group is 17 and up. A. Shaw spoke about the publisher’s recommended age groups 
not always being appropriate. K. LaRocca stated that we have always made our own decisions about 
what collections items are placed in the library and we do not rely on the publisher’s recommendation. 
K. LaRocca clarified that if the book was placed in the New Adult section it would still be part of the 
Adult collection and not available to minors with restricted library cards.  
 
B. McHugh stated that he wonders why the Board was asked to consider a SOC about a book that has 
always been in the Adult Fiction collection. He noted a similar situation occurred with another book 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 14 
 

previously challenged by the complainant. He stated that it shows tremendous prejudice towards 
content no matter where it is located, which is antithetical to the purpose of a library and the First 
Amendment. He stated he is in favor of leaving the title in Adult Fiction or moving it to New Adult. B. 
Taylor stated she is in favor of leaving the book in Adult Fiction.  
 
Public comment: 
Frances Smith, the patron who submitted the Statement of Concern for A Court of Frost and Starlight, 
was offered five minutes for public comment. F. Smith was not in attendance and did not appear for 
public comment.  
 
Lisa Rustemeyer – Mandeville, LA. Read a comment from a member of the public named Rachel who 
could not attend the meeting. Stated that the book is part of a New York Times Best-selling series, which 
means that there are people who like it. Did not care for the series, but does not want it off of the 
shelves. Stated that there are steamy and flirty moments and a mention of a sex scene, but it was vague 
and not in great detail. Stated that it is an adult book, not a children’s book. Asked for the book to 
remain on the shelves.  
 
There were three comment cards from members of the public who did not wish to speak. They were in 
favor of keeping the book in the library in the Adult or YA collections.  
 
Vote: A. Shaw moved to affirm the committee’s recommendation for A Court of Frost and Starlight to 
remain in the Adult Fiction collection. It was seconded by A. Parr.  

 
Roll call vote: Butler: Absent    McHugh: Yes    Parr: Yes    Shaw: Yes    Taylor: Yes 

 
Motion carried. 
 

F. Rules and Regulations – Disaster Recovery Policy Update 
 
Discussion: 
T. DiMaggio reviewed a change in the I.T. Disaster Recovery Policy. A penetration test will be conducted 
every three years instead of annually, as the test is quite costly and is not required by our insurance 
policy, by law, or by the Legislative Auditor. A penetration test is a security test where an external cyber-
security expert attempts to hack into our I.T. systems. The I.T. Department has purchased vulnerability 
assessment software and is regularly conducting assessments throughout the year. The I.T. Department 
is confident that having a penetration test every three years will be sufficient to keep us up to date on 
security.  
 
A. Parr asked about tests on outside servers such as our databases and website, and whether or not 
those companies report their results to the library. T. DiMaggio stated that they do run their own tests, 
but their servers do not touch ours in terms of accessing vulnerable information. K. LaRocca clarified 
that databases can access a patron’s card type, but not any personal information.  
 
B. Taylor asked if staff could check to see if we are paying double for anything that we are already 
getting, relative to cyber insurance. K. LaRocca explained that we only have one Cyber Security 



 St. Tammany Parish Library 
 Board of Control Meeting Minutes 
 April 22, 2024 
  pg. 15 
 

insurance policy and the library pays for that separately. K. LaRocca noted that we are not required by 
law to have Cyber Security insurance, but we obtained it because there is a cost to recover from an issue 
if affected.  
 
B. McHugh noted that he is a former I.T. professional and suggests doing a penetration test any time 
there are major changes in the system. He suggested a change in wording in Section B4 of the policy to 
read as follows: “An external penetration test is conducted at least every three years or more often at 
the Director’s discretion.” He suggested an additional sentence at the end of Section B4 of the policy 
that reads as follows: “The Assistant Director of Support Services will notify the Library Board of Control 
of the results.” 
 
Vote: B. McHugh moved to approve the Disaster Recovery Policy update with the stated additions. It 
was seconded by A. Shaw. All were in favor, none were opposed, and one was absent. Motion carried.  
 

3. Adjournment 
 
There being no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by A. Shaw and was seconded by B. 
McHugh. All were in favor, none were opposed, and one was absent. Motion carried.  
 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Anthony Parr, Secretary 
 









































































































































Director’s Report 
May 30, 2024 

FACILITIES 

At the South Slidell branch, the windows that were damaged by the April 10 storm were 
replaced, all cosmetic damage to the stucco wall was repaired, and the HVAC system was 
inspected and preventative maintenance was done.  

Maintenance repaired planter beds for the Master Gardeners at the Slidell Branch and 
continues to work with Parish Facilities Management for repairs on Slidell Branch’s chiller 
fence. 
 

IT 

The IT department worked with RingCentral, our new phone system vendor, to complete the 
migration to our new phone system. 

Replacement of our public computers at the Mandeville Branch and the staff computers at the 
Bush and Abita Springs branches was completed per our five-year rotation schedule. 

For the new Outreach Building, network, and phone cabling have been successfully installed 
and set up with the help of Facilities. 

 
MARKETING AND OUTREACH 

Jackie Riecke, Public Relations and Community Coordinator, and Jennifer Rifino, Teen Services 
Coordinator, promoted the Summer Reading Challenge and kickoff parties on the Lake and the 
Highway radio stations on May 3. 

Barret Reich, Mandeville Reference Librarian,  presented at COAST Lacombe Activity Center on 
May 14 on Library Genealogy Resources. 

Kellie Nelson, Causeway Reference Librarian, gave a presentation on library services at the 
COAST Bush location on May 28. 

Jessica Troske, Causeway Branch Children's Librarian, provided outreach on April 26 for Cultural 
Arts Day at Pontchartrain Elementary with Ramona Elder, Mandeville Children’s Librarian. 
Jessica also attended the Summer Kick-Off Fair at the Children’s Museum St. Tammany on May 
5, promoted library services at Florida Elementary on May 17, and Tiny Tumblers Preschool on 
May 20. 

Amy Strain, Folsom Branch manager, Gayle Atkins, Cathy Badon, Slidell Children’s Assistant, and 
Ramona Elder performed outreach at the Touch a Truck event on May 4 in Folsom. Amy also 
attended the Folsom Kiwanis meeting on May 7.  



Alexis Davis, Slidell Children's Librarian and Cathy Badon were tour guides for the Lakeside 
Christian Academy Field Trip on April 23 and for the Bonne Ecole Field Trip on May 9. Alexis 
performed Storytime for Saint Margaret Mary on May 10. 

 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT  

Tanya DiMaggio attended the State Library's Tech Fest on Wednesday, May 22. There were 
presentations on network security, emerging technology, and digital signage. 

 

PROGRAMMING HIGHLIGHTS 

Metro Centers for Community Advocacy had table talks at several branches in April to inform 
patrons about Sexual Assault Awareness Month. This is an annual occurrence with a community 
partner. The branches visited were Madisonville, Slidell, Causeway, Covington, Lee Road, and 
Folsom. 

Two art shows were held this past month, one at the South Slidell Branch with artwork from 4th 
through 8th grade Talented Art Students and the other at the Slidell Branch to showcase work 
by Slidell Art League artists. 

The 2024 Summer Reading Challenge Kickoff parties were held at the Slidell Branch on May 23 
and at the Madisonville Branch on May 24. This year’s theme is “Adventure Begins at Your 
Library.” The Summer Reading Challenge programming and events will continue until July 27. 

 

CONTRACTS 

Renewals 
Adobe Creative Cloud and Acrobat Pro subscription   $2,490.49 
Hightail (file sharing)  $99.99 

Meraki Licensing - Enterprise Security Licensing $9,010.08 
Meraki Licensing - Equipment Support $6,235.67 
Office 365 E3 and Azure Active Directory  $23,220.00   billed at $1,935.00/month 
Procurify $19,600 
Procurify is a procurement system that provides purchase approval, purchase order creation, 
budget tracking for department managers, and contract tracking  
 

FINANCIAL 

The Parish Council made the final approval of the purchase of the land for the Lacombe Library 
Replacement at its May meeting; we will close on the Lacombe land on May 31st. 



PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS 

We have received no new public records request since the last meeting.  We have no open public 
records requests in the library's possession.   

 

STATEMENTS OF CONCERN 

We have received one new statement of concern since the last meeting. We have 41 active statements 
of concern on 37 titles.  Library staff continue to read titles, hold meetings, and make 
recommendations.  Two more titles will be decided at the July meeting.  The remaining statements of 
concern are still pending review. 

 

STRATEGIC PLANNING REPORT 

Goal 3. The St. Tammany Parish Library will be a thriving, energetic community commons by 
complementing traditional library services with innovative new services, technology and 
digital resources.   

The working group for this goal met on May 6 and May 30 to discuss job descriptions for the 
outreach staff and to work on an application for the new services.  

The bid package for the “book hauler” outreach van opened on May 1 and was closed on May 
29th. Bids were read in the Administration office at 2 PM on May 29.  

Furniture for the new Outreach office was part of a package that went out for bid on May 29 
along with other furniture. This bid will close on June 24.  

 

Goal 4. The St. Tammany Parish Library will serve as a platform for creativity, innovation, and 
community interaction.    

On April 25, several members of the working group visited the “IHub” maker space at 
Southeastern University. On May 8, several members of the working group visited the “Teen 
Tech Center” at New Orleans Public Library. With Summer Reading underway, the committee is 
trying to find a good time to meet to discuss what was observed and what they learned from 
the visits. The committee will also create a survey for patrons this summer to determine what 
equipment the public would like to see at a maker space in Madisonville.  

 

TRANSITION OF MATERIALS THAT WERE RESCINDED STATEMENTS OF CONCERN AND 
MATERIALS BROUGHT TO ADMINISTRATION'S ATTENTION 

Books Reviewed and Determined to Have Sexual Conduct (will be moved to New Adult Fiction)  



Haters by Jesse Andrews- Reason: Ultimate act on p. 265 
Like Other Girls by Britta Lundin- Reason: Actual, simulated, or animated touching, caressing, or 
fondling of, or other similar physical contact with, a pubic area, anus, female breast nipple, 
covered or exposed on p. 195  
Dead End Girls by Wendy Heard- Reason: Actual, simulated, or animated touching, caressing, or 
fondling of, or other similar physical contact with, a pubic area, anus, female breast nipple, 
covered or exposed on  p. 228-229  
Allegedly by Tiffany Jackson- Reason: Actual, simulated, or animated touching, caressing, or 
fondling of, or other similar physical contact with, a pubic area, anus, female breast nipple, 
covered or exposed p. 164 
Ttfn by Lauren Myracle- Moved to keep series together 
Ttyl by Lauren Myracle- Moved to keep series together 
Yolo by Lauren Myracle- Moved to keep series together 
 
Books Reviewed and Determined to Not Have Sexual Conduct (Remain in Teen Fiction) 
Obie is Man Enough by Schuyler Bailar 
The Civil War of Amos Abernathy by Michael Leali 
Heartbreakers and Fakers by Cameron Lund 
Tiger Honor by Yoon Ha Lee 
Dress Codes for Small Towns by Courtney Stevens 
The Sunbearer Trials by Thomas Aiden 
Lily and Dunkin by Donna Gephart 
Symptoms of Being Human by Jeff Garvin 
Between Perfect and Real by Ray Stoeve 
Eleanor and Park by Rainbow Rowell 
 
Books Still Under Review 
Birthday by Meredith Russo 
Under Shifting by Stars Alexandra Latos 
 



April 2024
 Service Statistics

Branch
Adult 
Books CD DVD ILL Juv Bks Mag Pbks YA Virtual

Total 
Circulation

Computer 
Usage

Door 
Count

Wireless 
Inside

Wireless 
Outside

Admin/Annex 395 76 82 21 833 53 1,460
Abita 590 48 175 18 428 15 34 1,308 176 1,864 110 218
Bush 192 20 355 9 190 12 5 783 79 693 52 103
Causeway 2397 132 690 48 1892 56 128 5,343 482 4,945 829 797
Covington 3401 289 1788 24 4076 69 69 161 9,877 1,325 5,529 2,254 915
Folsom 437 22 251 7 229 72 17 1,035 205 1,037 74 123
Lacombe 267 13 156 10 428 25 899 236 2,993 131 125
Lee Road 274 37 78 4 321 7 8 729 51 526 47 192
Madisonville 1208 109 442 31 1742 12 87 3,631 391 4,069 870 446
Mandeville 2842 270 906 42 3639 50 5 205 7,959 821 5,893 733 475
Pearl River 449 21 157 20 274 41 68 14 1,044 188 1,486 91 193
Slidell 3702 269 1407 36 3545 82 200 237 9,478 1,737 9,239 1,240 2,172
South Slidell 517 48 485 22 842 15 5 54 1,988 1,279 4,894 746 861
Virtual 1 33,380 33,380
Total 16,671 1,354 6,890 292 18,439 431 347 1,028 33,380 78,914 6,970 43,168 7,177 6,620

1 - Virtual stats include Overdrive, Tumblebooks, 3M Cloud Library, Rbdigital, Hoopla

CD=CompactDisc;  DVD=DigitalVersatileDisc;  ILL=InterLibraryLoan;  Mag=Magazines
Ppks=Paperbacks;  YA=Young Adult

Patrons Registered: 781



Jan. - Apr. YTD 2024
 Service Statistics

Branch
Adult 
Books CD DVD ILL Juv Bks Mag Pbks YA Virtual

Total 
Circulation

Computer 
Usage

Door 
Count

Wireless 
Inside

Wireless 
Outside

Admin/Annex 1,352 214 492 109 1,341 1 3,509
Abita 2465 174 816 103 1839 56 5,453 727 7,389 464 892
Bush 681 53 1302 38 579 38 2,691 334 3,241 167 434
Causeway 9005 562 3195 161 6855 168 19,946 2,011 20,611 3,364 3,504
Covington 13925 1201 6939 144 15020 282 1 207 37,719 4,845 24,909 8,571 3,738
Folsom 1843 94 1136 33 1178 281 4,565 851 4,522 389 567
Lacombe 1203 79 861 37 1348 12 29 3,569 1,004 11,805 518 527
Lee Road 1171 86 415 18 1353 36 6 3,085 200 2,312 207 765
Madisonville 4793 470 1630 100 6287 44 13,324 1,429 16,445 3,301 1,649
Mandeville 10777 1009 3835 165 13907 242 10 29,945 3,506 23,239 2,940 1,885
Pearl River 1660 72 851 77 911 48 257 3,876 754 6,143 325 718
Slidell 14834 1070 5235 123 13868 420 795 36,345 7,220 38,633 4,924 7,994
South Slidell 2414 270 2227 81 3162 32 26 8,212 5,137 21,013 3,032 3,823
Virtual 1 138,535 138,535
Total 66,123 5,354 28,442 1,189 67,648 1,659 2 1,330 138,535 310,774 28,018 180,262 28,202 26,496

1 - Virtual stats include Overdrive, Tumblebooks, 3M Cloud Library, Rbdigital, Hoopla

CD=CompactDisc;  DVD=DigitalVersatileDisc;  ILL=InterLibraryLoan;  Mag=Magazines
Ppks=Paperbacks;  YA=Young Adult

Patrons Registered: 2,680



 

 

 

 

 

 

Summer Reading Presentation 



Graphic Novel Review Report 

At the February 28th, 2023, LBOC meeting the Board passed a resolution requiring library staff 
to review all graphic novels for depictions of sexual conduct as defined by the then Louisiana 
Attorney General and as similarly defined in La. R.S. § 14:106. Any graphic novels found to 
contain depictions of such sexual conduct were to be placed behind the circulation desk. 
Graphic novels behind the circulation desk are only available to adult library card holders, or to 
minors whose parents have given them permission to access the adult collection using an 
unrestricted juvenile card. Graphic novels in the Children’s, Young Adult’s, and Adult’s sections 
were reviewed.  

Several titles that Library Administration were aware of having sexual content were reviewed 
first and once confirmed, were placed behind the circulation desk. All items (individual books) 
that are placed behind the desk and have a restricted status are given a call number prefix GNR 
so that it is clear in the catalog that the books are located behind the circulation desk. 

The first step in the review was that the Technical Services Manager created two lists of all 
items that are considered graphic novels. One list was titles where we only own one copy. The 
other list was where we owned more than one copy.  

The first group of books reviewed were single copies of titles at each branch. This was done 
because it was easy to run reports for each branch to review. The Assistant Director of Support 
Services sorted the Single Copy list by branch and by call number. Each branch’s list was sent to 
the branch manager with instructions and guidelines. Managers were instructed to look at 
every page of each book looking for images portraying conduct described in the above-
mentioned statute. If no conduct was seen, the manager put their initials in a box marked “no 
conduct” and put the date they reviewed the book.  

If they did find conduct or if they were not sure if the image portrayed conduct, they were 
instructed to send the book to Administration, marking the page, and making note on the list 
that the book was sent and when. Books that were sent to Administration were reviewed by 
the Assistant Director of Support Services and sometimes the Assistant Director of Branch 
Services and the Director, if an image was ambiguous. 

If the conduct depicted was determined to be sexual conduct, the book was sent to Technical 
Services where the necessary changes were made to put the book behind the circulation desk.  

Once a list was completed, it was sent to the Assistant Director of Support Services where she 
recorded any books sent to Administration and any restricted books. This work took several 
months. 



Next, all multi-copy titles in the Children’s collection were reviewed. The Assistant Director of 
Support Services divided the list of titles amongst the branches and distributed lists to the 
Children’s Librarians and small branch managers to review. The process was the same as the 
single title process. No graphic novels in the Children’s collection were found to have sexual 
conduct. 

This was repeated for multi-copy titles in the Adult collection. The lists were sent to branch 
managers. There are approximately 98 titles remaining to be reviewed in the Adult collection. 

This was repeated for multi-copy titles in the Teen collection. There are lists with 426 titles to 
be sent to branches to be reviewed. 

Total number of titles to be reviewed: 

ADULT GRAPHIC NOVELS 512 81% complete 66 titles Restricted behind circulation desk 

JUVENILE GRAPHIC NOVELS 2030 100% complete 0 Restricted behind circulation desk 

TEEN/YA GRAPHIC NOVELS 1191 64% complete 3 titles Restricted behind circulation desk 

TOTAL NUMBER OF TITLES: 3733 86% complete 69 titles Restricted behind circulation desk 

 

 



1 
 

St. Tammany Parish Library 2024 Summer Amendment for the 
Operational Budget 

Introduction 

This is a brief explanation of the differences in revenue and expenditure forecasts between the 
2024 Spring Project Budget Amendment and the 2024 Summer Amendment.    It is best read 
alongside the budget spreadsheet.  Lines that have been adjusted for this amendment are 
highlighted in yellow on the spreadsheet. 

2024 Revenue 

In 2024, the St. Tammany Parish Library will operate on revenue of $12,834,952.    We expect 
an additional $121,380 in Ad Valorem taxes over what we budgeted for the Spring Project 
Amendment. We are expecting more growth for this year due to more taxable properties. This 
is still a conservative number based on the information I have received from the Parish Finance 
Office. Overall, there is an increase of $121,380 in revenue.   

2024 Expenditures 

We produced the 2024 Budget in July of 2023 and amended it in February and March of 2024. 
This budget amendment adjusts based updated information we have received on project costs 
and the performance of the Budget from the first third of the year. Each section in the budget 
that is being adjusted is highlighted in yellow on the spreadsheet and is listed below with an 
explanation.   

• Retirement Contributions – This line is adjusted upward and we have filled more of our 
full time positions. 

• Worker’s Compensation – This line is reduced as we received a dividend in May. 
• Data Line – We have received updated discounting through e-rate and have reduced the 

line accordingly. 
• P C Network maintenance and repair – We have been purchasing more parts to insure 

we have what is needed for repairs.  We have increased this line accordingly. 
• Disaster Recovery Costs – With the Flooding in Mandeville and tornado in Slidell earlier 

in the year we are funding this line to better track recovery costs. 
• Payroll Service Fees – This line Is increased to reflect the costs that will be incurred with 

summer temporary help. 
• Consultants – This line is increased so that we can have our consultant for the salary 

study visit in July and also have our furniture and library services consultant visit to 
collect data for the Lacombe library replacement 

• Bank Service Charges – This line is increased to reflect the extra security measures 
around our checking account 



2 
 

• Computer Printer Supplies – this line is increased as the cost of toner and paper has 
increased – we continue to utilize state contract pricing 

• Programming supplies – this line is increased as we have increased the number of 
programs and need more refreshments to cover 

• Juvenile Programming – This line is increased to cover the cost of performers that were 
sponsored by the West Friends of the Library 

• Improvement to Physical Plant – This line is decreased ad the money directed to 
Disaster recovery costs 

• Vehicles – This line is decreased as we have paid for our vehicle for the year 
• Office Equipment/Furniture & Shelving – This line is increased as we will need to 

replace office chairs at several branches 
• PC network – This line is increased as we will be adding a branch’s worth of laptop 

computers to our 5-year rotation 
• Integrated Library Automation sys. – This line is reduced as we have paid for and 

installed the schedule replacement of our catalog server  

Planned Usage of Savings – We are not making any changes to this section – We still have a 
planned usage of savings this year to complete special projects.   

Savings 

Any unused money at the end of the year becomes Prior Years’ Operating Revenue.    The cash 
on hand or savings as of December 31, 2023, was $5,960,283.86. This figure is less than half of 
one year’s worth of operating revenue. These savings are dedicated to very specific purposes.   

• Operational reserves are needed to run the library until we receive our first significant 
portion of our millage from the Parish.   

• Disaster and emergency funds cover our insurance deductibles and any repairs and 
clean-up that may be needed in the event of a disaster. 

• Dedications for Causeway, Lacombe, Mandeville, and Slidell furniture projects.  
• Dedication for Outreach Opening Day collection, Furniture Fixtures and Equipment, and 

an Outreach Vehicle.   
• Dedications for Covington Furniture and Acoustical Work  

This leaves us with a current Unassigned Savings of $340,284 and puts us in a good position to 
continue to work on goals identified during the strategic planning process. Some of the 
potential dedications that we are working on as a result of strategic planning are detailed in 
blue. 

 

 



3 
 

Budget Analysis  

We are forecasting an increase in revenue of $121,380 due primarily to more ad valorem funds 
as part of our normal growth. The 2024 Summer Budget Amendment shows an increase in 
expenditures of $106,330 over the Spring Project Amendment expenditures for 2024 to cover 
supply, equipment, and disaster recovery costs. Aside from the planned usage of savings, the 
operational portion of the budget continues to be balanced. 

 

Conclusion 

Each library department was allocated the funds to enable their plans for the 2024 fiscal year. I 
am confident that we have adequate funds to meet our goals. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 

Kelly LaRocca 
Director  



 2024 Spring Project Amendment

5/24/2024

2021 Budget 
Actual

2022 Budget 
Actual

2023 Budget 
Actual

2024 Budget 
Original

2024 Budget 
Spring

2024 Budget 
Spring Project Amendment 2024 Budget   

Summer Amend

REVENUE

405 Ad Valorem Taxes (received) $11,300,475.73 11,494,947.88 11,823,150.21 11,861,153$        12,023,150$        12,127,150$        121,380$       12,248,530$       
410 State Revenue Sharing $251,600.00 251,600.00 258,515.31 258,515$             264,302$             264,302$             -$                   264,302$            
415 Fines/Fees $49,665.48 70,486.86 75,471.23 73,000$               76,000$               76,000$               -$                   76,000$              
416 LA Library Grant - ARPA $47,065.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
417 Grants $0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
418 LEH Grant $2,700.00 2,400.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
420 Interest Income $1,141.66 38,715.49 185,805.65 194,000$             194,000$             194,000$             -$                   194,000$            
425 Donations $9,055.59 33,302.89 61,165.51 50,000$               50,000$               50,000$               -$                   50,000$              
430 Miscellaneous Income $0.00 14,840.11 0.21 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
440 CARES Act COVID-19 $0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
450 Summer Reading T-shirt Sales $1,267.40 1,316.77 2,118.98 2,120$                 2,120$                 2,120$                 -$                   2,120$                

-$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
TOTAL REVENUE $11,662,970.86 11,907,610.00 12,406,227.10 12,438,788$        12,609,572$        12,713,572$        121,380$       12,834,952$       

EXPENDITURES
LIBRARY ADMINISTRATION
 PERSONNEL SALARIES
 503 Library Salaries $4,846,642.94 5,005,221.13 5,263,285.57 5,705,000$          5,705,000$          5,705,000$          -$                   5,705,000$         

TOTAL $4,846,642.94 5,005,221.13 5,263,285.57 5,705,000$         5,705,000$         5,705,000$         -$                   5,705,000$         

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
505 Accrued Payroll -$                          -$                         0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
511 FICA/Medicare Tax $104,917.88 111,512.98 119,802.99 117,000$             120,000$             120,000$             -$                   120,000$            
512 Retirement Contributions $511,260.09 489,982.62 512,866.56 516,000$             516,000$             516,000$             15,480$         531,480$            
513 Health Insurance/Insurance $412,118.33 440,256.79 380,065.68 460,000$             440,000$             440,000$             -$                   440,000$            
514 Health Trust $1,181,116.17 804,090.69 1,395,030.65 1,018,000$          1,197,000$          1,197,000$          -$                   1,197,000$         
515 Workers' Compensation/Unemployment Claims $6,318.11 31,416.00 14,901.40 30,000$               30,000$               30,000$               (8,000)$          22,000$              
516 Employee Miscellaneous $2,136.60 854.42 600.60 1,000$                 1,000$                 1,000$                 -$                   1,000$                

TOTAL $2,217,867.18 1,878,113.50 2,423,267.88 2,142,000$          2,304,000$          2,304,000$          7,480$           2,311,480$         

OPERATING SERVICES
601 Publication of Legal Notices $3,473.25 4,166.54 15,505.20 15,000$               15,500$               15,500$               -$                   15,500$              
603 Membership Dues $5,901.48 7,045.00 7,499.65 7,500$                 7,500$                 7,500$                 -$                   7,500$                
604 Advertising $18,765.19 24,385.41 31,480.57 32,500$               32,500$               32,500$               -$                   32,500$              
607 Signage $3,406.00 3,498.62 642.10 2,000$                 2,000$                 2,000$                 -$                   2,000$                
608 Promotional Production $6,664.15 19,902.10 14,898.97 10,000$               15,000$               15,000$               -$                   15,000$              

TOTAL $38,210.07 58,997.67 70,026.49 67,000$               72,500$               72,500$               -$                   72,500$              

PRINTING, DUPLICATING & BINDING
611 Printing $8,918.93 11,998.47 12,786.17 12,000$               13,000$               13,000$               -$                   13,000$              
613 Book Binding $0.00 3,840.20 2,544.95 5,000$                 5,000$                 5,000$                 -$                   5,000$                
615 Patron Cards $3,380.90 0.00 4,959.70 5,000$                 5,000$                 5,000$                 -$                   5,000$                

TOTAL $12,299.83 15,838.67 20,290.82 22,000$               23,000$               23,000$               -$                   23,000$              

UTILITIES
621 Electricity $237,246.80 316,933.90 284,245.50 284,220$             287,220$             287,220$             -$                   287,220$            
622 Gas $2,376.75 2,474.76 2,299.09 3,250$                 3,250$                 3,250$                 -$                   3,250$                
623 Water $31,790.45 35,776.99 46,073.45 42,000$               47,000$               47,000$               -$                   47,000$              

TOTAL $271,414.00 355,185.65 332,618.04 329,470$             337,470$             337,470$             -$                   337,470$            

Page 1



 2024 Spring Project Amendment

5/24/2024

2021 Budget 
Actual

2022 Budget 
Actual

2023 Budget 
Actual

2024 Budget 
Original

2024 Budget 
Spring

2024 Budget 
Spring Project Amendment 2024 Budget   

Summer Amend

COMMUNICATIONS
625 Postage $5,720.78 10,899.72 14,459.39 16,000$               19,000$               19,000$               -$                   19,000$              
626  Voice Line (Regular Phone Service) $85,081.73 83,668.72 77,627.21 83,500$               77,500$               77,500$               -$                   77,500$              
627   Data Line (Internet-Network) $45,300.00 45,295.00 41,470.26 50,000$               43,000$               43,000$               (4,700)$          38,300$              
630 Courier/Shipping $190.93 238.20 515.35 1,000$                 1,000$                 1,000$                 -$                   1,000$                

TOTAL $136,293.44 140,101.64 134,072.21 150,500$             140,500$             140,500$             (4,700)$          135,800$            
-$                               

LEASE EXPENSE -$                               
634 Building $300,508.74 310,941.75 318,045.64 303,000$             323,000$             323,000$             -$                   323,000$            
636 Equipment $7,750.69 5,096.96 4,970.03 6,000$                 6,000$                 6,000$                 -$                   6,000$                
638 Vehicle $0.00 0.00 2,647.96 2,500$                 2,750$                 2,750$                 -$                   2,750$                

TOTAL $308,259.43 316,038.71 325,663.63 311,500$             331,750$             331,750$             -$                   331,750$            

MAINTENANCE OF PROPERTY & EQUIP.
641 Custodial & Janitorial $207,731.07 208,585.74 212,056.10 212,000$             215,000$             215,000$             -$                   215,000$            
643 Grounds/Lawn Maintenance $82,000.00 80,224.00 84,861.00 85,000$               85,000$               85,000$               -$                   85,000$              
645 Maintenance supplies $6,978.24 8,973.74 9,972.57 9,000$                 10,000$               10,000$               -$                   10,000$              
652 Fuel and lube $23,295.56 39,891.89 32,787.02 37,000$               33,000$               33,000$               -$                   33,000$              
654 Vehicle repairs $6,138.54 3,821.26 14,567.55 10,000$               10,000$               10,000$               -$                   10,000$              
658 Small Tools & Supplies $2,895.48 2,958.04 2,988.96 3,000$                 3,000$                 3,000$                 -$                   3,000$                
660 Office machine and equip. repair $1,557.88 974.68 504.92 1,000$                 1,000$                 1,000$                 -$                   1,000$                
661 Network Utility Software $68,859.01 172,971.54 155,507.60 157,250$             157,250$             157,250$             -$                   157,250$            
662 Solinet (OCLC) Cost $28,249.86 28,026.94 30,649.09 29,500$               32,000$               32,000$               -$                   32,000$              
663 Polaris Maintenance $51,939.66 51,978.19 53,635.61 54,000$               55,000$               55,000$               -$                   55,000$              
664 P C Network maintenance and repair $7,865.00 6,778.22 5,875.00 8,000$                 8,000$                 8,000$                 3,500$           11,500$              
669 Disaster Recovery Costs $30,726.50 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         20,000$         20,000$              

TOTAL $518,236.80 605,184.24 603,405.42 605,750$             609,250$             609,250$             23,500$         632,750$            

MAINTENANCE SERVICES (Buildings)
671 Physical Plant $114,819.68 147,981.76 176,994.78 150,000$             150,000$             150,000$             -$                   150,000$            
672 Plumbing, Heating, & Air Conditioning $57,605.29 66,491.54 66,494.36 66,500$               66,500$               66,500$               -$                   66,500$              
673 Electrical $5,973.18 7,798.31 16,998.60 13,000$               13,000$               13,000$               -$                   13,000$              
674 Sanitation $8,370.63 8,957.58 10,415.68 10,000$               12,000$               12,000$               -$                   12,000$              
675 Pest Control $6,698.00 6,140.00 7,190.00 7,550$                 7,550$                 7,550$                 -$                   7,550$                
676 Termite Contracts $3,228.00 8,009.00 2,915.00 4,555$                 4,555$                 4,555$                 -$                   4,555$                
678 Carpet Cleaning $4,870.00 14,998.98 17,590.00 17,000$               18,000$               18,000$               -$                   18,000$              

TOTAL $201,564.78 260,377.17 298,598.42 268,605$             271,605$             271,605$             -$                   271,605$            

Professional Services
680 Payroll Service Fees $26,366.03 33,901.31 37,555.26 35,600$               37,600$               37,600$               1,000$           38,600$              
682 Legal $0.00 0.00 11,869.20 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
683 Financial $36,384.06 39,023.87 50,811.44 40,000$               51,000$               51,000$               -$                   51,000$              
684 Architectural $0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
685 Consultants $38,090.24 83,160.48 89,998.23 50,000$               50,000$               50,000$               20,000$         70,000$              
686 Security $6,843.77 7,570.82 13,766.82 13,000$               14,000$               14,000$               -$                   14,000$              
687 Web Design Consultant $66,511.44 79,693.35 89,789.97 85,825$               89,825$               89,825$               -$                   89,825$              
688 Movers -$                          0.00 15,437.66 16,000$               16,000$               16,000$               -$                   16,000$              

TOTAL $174,195.54 243,349.83 309,228.58 240,425$             258,425$             258,425$             21,000$         279,425$            

INSURANCE & CLAIMS
692 Library Property $135,438.08 132,637.21 145,499.86 145,500$             145,500$             145,500$             54,500$         200,000$            
694 Flood insurance $22,163.00 23,424.00 25,916.00 26,000$               26,000$               26,000$               3,600$           29,600$              

Page 2



 2024 Spring Project Amendment

5/24/2024

2021 Budget 
Actual

2022 Budget 
Actual

2023 Budget 
Actual

2024 Budget 
Original

2024 Budget 
Spring

2024 Budget 
Spring Project Amendment 2024 Budget   

Summer Amend

696 Vehicle Insurance $36,450.00 42,860.00 31,275.36 32,950$               37,950$               37,950$               -$                   37,950$              
698 LBOC Liability $4,076.00 4,076.00 1,940.00 4,076$                 4,676$                 4,676$                 -$                   4,676$                
699 Gen Liability $20,641.00 15,054.00 25,100.64 25,100$               25,100$               25,100$               -$                   25,100$              

TOTAL $218,768.08 218,051.21 229,731.86 233,626$             239,226$             239,226$             58,100$         297,326$            

MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES
OPERATING SUPPLIES

701 Office Supplies $18,984.26 31,300.98 32,995.28 33,000$               33,000$               33,000$               -$                   33,000$              
702 Bank Service Charges $15,113.22 15,699.20 15,568.17 16,000$               16,000$               16,000$               500$              16,500$              
703 Book Preparation Supplies $36,803.34 41,739.05 46,688.48 45,000$               47,000$               47,000$               -$                   47,000$              
704 Computer/Printer Supplies $61,301.07 61,918.90 78,742.54 81,000$               81,000$               81,000$               5,700$           86,700$              
705 Programming Supplies $6,672.31 7,887.23 8,387.55 9,000$                 9,000$                 9,000$                 750$              9,750$                

TOTAL $138,874.20 158,545.36 182,382.02 184,000$             186,000$             186,000$             6,950$           192,950$            

TRAVEL & CONTINUING EDUCATION
710 Mileage Reimbursement $12,592.98 21,899.16 19,509.56 22,000$               22,000$               22,000$               -$                   22,000$              
712 Library In-service Training $985.00 11,459.26 8,981.49 12,000$               12,000$               12,000$               -$                   12,000$              
714 Conventions/Seminars $29,892.00 64,771.20 33,944.72 60,000$               35,000$               35,000$               -$                   35,000$              

TOTAL $43,469.98 98,129.62 62,435.77 94,000$               69,000$               69,000$               -$                   69,000$              

PUBLIC RELATIONS/PROGRAMMING
724 Summer Reading Program $26,687.81 45,000.00 44,955.26 45,000$               45,000$               45,000$               -$                   45,000$              
725 Summer Reading T-shirts $5,191.17 5,519.64 6,575.59 7,200$                 7,200$                 7,200$                 -$                   7,200$                
726 Adult Programming $24,673.99 35,924.44 38,832.18 36,000$               38,000$               38,000$               -$                   38,000$              
727 Young Adult Programming $11,434.10 21,189.10 14,994.21 15,000$               15,000$               15,000$               -$                   15,000$              
728 Juvenile Programming $11,689.70 34,240.17 19,998.10 12,000$               12,000$               12,000$               8,000$           20,000$              
729 LEH Grant $2,719.65 601.80 1,800.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        

TOTAL $82,396.42 142,475.15 127,155.34 115,200$             117,200$             117,200$             8,000$           125,200$            

CAPITAL OUTLAY
NON-BOOK ACQUISITIONS

805 Landscaping Additions $19,972.80 32,054.76 33,572.29 33,000$               36,000$               66,000$               -$                   66,000$              
810 Improvements to Physical Plant $56,136.00 141,084.05 65,986.50 140,000$             130,000$             130,000$             (20,000)$        110,000$            
815 Vehicles $0.00 27,841.26 61,475.54 70,000$               50,000$               50,000$               (7,000)$          43,000$              
820 Office Equipment/Furniture & Shelving $104,778.31 124,035.77 89,836.78 100,000$             50,000$               50,000$               10,000$         60,000$              
825 Telephones and Telephone System $0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         12,000$               -$                   12,000$              
831 Leasehold Improvements $0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
833 ARPA Expense $47,064.48 0.00 -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                   -$                        
834 PC Network $130,157.31 155,919.15 164,278.65 156,000$             156,000$             156,000$             7,000$           163,000$            
840 Integrated Library Automation Sys. $988.00 0.00 11,229.91 12,000$               12,000$               12,000$               (4,000)$          8,000$                
842 Audio/Visual Equipment $5,019.59 5,398.49 2,140.00 -$                         61,000$               104,000$             104,000$            
898 Cameras $0.00 0.00 0.00 -$                         6,000$                 6,000$                 -$                   6,000$                

TOTAL $364,116.49 486,333.48 428,519.67 511,000$             501,000$             586,000$             (14,000)$        572,000$            

LIBRARY RESOURCE ACQUISITIONS
851 Adult Books $192,514.49 214,115.48 220,913.46 205,000$             205,000$             205,000$             -$                   205,000$            
852 Lease/Purchase Books $18,363.24 18,363.24 18,203.89 18,400$               11,400$               11,400$               -$                   11,400$              
853 Juvenile Books $102,219.33 103,646.73 98,074.59 105,000$             105,000$             105,000$             -$                   105,000$            
855 Young Adult $13,311.08 14,017.10 13,206.60 15,000$               15,000$               15,000$               -$                   15,000$              
858 Music Recordings $3,483.84 4,051.12 2,356.69 2,600$                 2,500$                 2,500$                 -$                   2,500$                
861 Adult Reference $96,698.32 101,940.22 110,390.92 111,000$             111,000$             111,000$             -$                   111,000$            
863 Juvenile Reference $37,993.45 42,066.11 44,314.69 45,000$               45,000$               45,000$               -$                   45,000$              

Page 3



 2024 Spring Project Amendment

5/24/2024

2021 Budget 
Actual

2022 Budget 
Actual

2023 Budget 
Actual

2024 Budget 
Original

2024 Budget 
Spring

2024 Budget 
Spring Project Amendment 2024 Budget   

Summer Amend

872 Periodicals $43,597.63 45,613.03 48,892.36 52,000$               50,000$               50,000$               -$                   50,000$              
883 Audio Recordings (Books) $18,729.03 12,542.97 12,098.64 10,100$               10,100$               10,100$               -$                   10,100$              
885 Video Recordings $51,627.62 69,242.99 62,285.35 65,000$               60,000$               60,000$               -$                   60,000$              
886 Genealogy $4,325.61 6,484.60 4,999.65 7,000$                 7,000$                 7,000$                 -$                   7,000$                
887 Digital Microfilm $675,766.00 15,000.00 5,867.00 10,000$               2,500$                 2,500$                 -$                   2,500$                
891 Electronic /Downloadable Media $338,223.68 470,508.25 440,068.42 415,000$             415,000$             415,000$             -$                   415,000$            
892 CDROM/Software $100,851.45 83,859.06 64,893.40 75,500$               65,000$               65,000$               -$                   65,000$              
893 Internet Database Subscriptions $254,173.01 262,310.63 324,585.51 321,000$             333,000$             333,000$             -$                   333,000$            

TOTAL $1,951,877.78 1,463,761.53 1,471,151.17 1,457,600$          1,437,500$          1,437,500$          -$                   1,437,500$         

LONG-TERM CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
895 Outreach FF & E -$                          0.00 0.00 -$                         25,000$               25,000$               -$                   25,000$              
896 Outreach Vehicle -$                          0.00 0.00 -$                         160,000$             160,000$             -$                   160,000$            
897 Outreach Opening Day Collection -$                          0.00 0.00 -$                         60,000$               60,000$               -$                   60,000$              
898 Causeway FF & E 130,000$             -$                   130,000$            
899 Covington FF&E and Acoustic work 50,000$               -$                   50,000$              

Total -$                          0.00 0.00 -$                         245,000$             425,000$             -$                   425,000$            

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $11,524,486.96 11,445,704.56 12,281,832.89 12,437,676$        12,848,426$        13,113,426$        106,330$       13,219,756$       

SAVINGS / (EXCESS EXPENDITURES) $138,483.90 461,905.44 124,394.21 1,112$                 (238,854)$            (399,854)$            15,050$         (384,804)$           

Page 4



Fund Balance and  Dedications

5/24/2024

Savings as of December 31st 2024 Spring Project Amendment Difference Summer Amendment
Prior Years' Operating Revenue 5,960,284$                                              5,960,284$                             

Dedicated for Operational Reserves 2,500,000$                                              2,500,000$                                -$                  2,500,000$                             
Dedicated for Disaster / Emergency Funds 1,475,000$                                              1,475,000$                                -$                  1,475,000$                             
Dedicated for Causeway Furniture 65,000$                                                   130,000$                                   130,000$                                
Dedicated for Mandeville Furniture 200,000$                                                 270,000$                                   270,000$                                
Dedicated for Slidell Furniture 650,000$                                                 700,000$                                   700,000$                                
Dedication for Lacombe FF&E -$                                                            250,000$                                   250,000$                                
Dedication for Outreach FF&E and opening day collection -$                                                            85,000$                                     85,000$                                  
Dedication for Outreach Vehicle -$                                                            160,000$                                   160,000$                                
Dedication Covington FF&E and Acoustic Work 50,000$                                     50,000$                                  

Total Dedicated or Reserved 4,890,000$                                                5,620,000$                                 -$                  5,620,000$                             
Unassigned Savings 1,070,284$                                                340,284$                                

Potential Dedication for Makers Space FF&E 50,000$        
Potential Dedication Mandeville Carpet 120,000$      
Potential Dedication Second Outreach Vehicle 160,000$      
Potential Dedication Capital Project Contingency 170,000$      
Potential Dedication Bookmobile 400,000$      
Total 900,000$      

For consideration tonight
For future consideration

5


	Agenda
	1. Approval of the minutes of the meeting of the Library Board of Control that was held on April22, 2024
	2. A. Presentation of the Audit – John Murray, LaPorte
	2. B. Financial Reports – April 2024
	2. C. Director’s Report
	2. D. Summer Reading Presentation
	2. E. Report on the status of the graphic novel review
	2. F. Summer Budget Amendment



